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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

DEAN MAURO, 

Individually and on behalf of others 
 similarly situated, 

 Plaintiff, 

v. 

ELECTROLUX HOME PRODUCTS, INC., 
AND LOWE’S HOME CENTERS, LLC., 

 Defendants. 

Case No.  

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332, Defendants Electrolux Home Products, Inc. (“Electrolux”) 

and Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC (“Lowe’s,” and together, “Defendants”), by and through their 

undersigned attorneys, hereby remove this action from the Supreme Court of the State of New 

York, County of Onondaga, to the United States District Court for the Northern District of New 

York.  In support thereof, Defendants state as follows: 

1. On November 20, 2017, Plaintiff Dean Mauro (“Plaintiff”) filed a Complaint

against Defendants in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Onondaga. 

Attached hereto as Exhibits A and B, respectively, are true and accurate copies of the Complaint 

and Summons. 
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2. Electrolux was served with the Complaint and Summons on November 30, 2017. 

3. Lowe’s was served with the Complaint and Summons on November 30, 2017. 

4. This Notice of Removal is timely because it is being filed within thirty days of 

service of the Complaint and Summons on Defendants. 

I. This Action Is Removable Pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 
1332(d)(11) (“CAFA”) 

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to CAFA, 28 U.S.C. § 

1332(d), because (1) the putative class consists of at least 100 proposed class members; (2) the 

citizenship of at least one putative class member is different from the citizenship of both 

Defendants; and (3) the aggregate amount placed in controversy by the claims of the named 

Plaintiff and the proposed class members exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of 

costs and interest. 

A. The Minimal Diversity of Citizenship Requirement Is Satisfied. 

6. Under CAFA, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A), minimal diversity jurisdiction exists if 

any member of the purported class is a citizen of a state different from any defendant. 

7. As alleged in the Complaint, Plaintiff is a citizen of New York.  (Ex. A ¶ 9). 

8. Electrolux is incorporated in Delaware and has its principal place of business in 

North Carolina.  As such, for jurisdictional purposes, Electrolux is a citizen of Delaware and 

North Carolina. 

9. Lowe’s is incorporated in North Carolina and has its principal place of business in 

North Carolina.  As such, for jurisdictional purposes, Lowe’s is a citizen of North Carolina. 

10. Thus, the minimal diversity of citizenship requirement of 28 U.S.C. § 

1332(d)(2)(A) is satisfied because the citizenship of at least one putative class member, Plaintiff, 

is different than the citizenship of both Defendants. 
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B. The Putative Class Consists of More than 100 Members. 
 

11. Plaintiff purports to bring this action pursuant to Article 9 of the CPLR on behalf 

of a class comprised of “[a]ll persons in the State of New York who purchased a Frigidaire Over-

The-Range Microwave with a STAINLESS STEEL HANDLE since December 1, 2013.”  (Ex. A 

¶ 46). 

12. Plaintiff alleges that the putative class “is so numerous that the joinder of all 

members is impracticable” but does not allege the exact or approximate number of putative class 

members.  (Id. ¶ 47). 

13. Plaintiff defines “STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES” as microwave handles 

bearing part number 5304481502. 

14. Electrolux sold two over-the-range microwaves in the United States that use a 

stainless steel handle bearing part number 5304481502: Model No. FGMV175QF and Model 

No. FGMV154CLF.  

15. During the putative class period (December 1, 2013 to the present (Ex. A ¶ 46)), 

Electrolux shipped over 40,000 Model No. FGMV175QF and Model No. FGMV154CLF 

microwaves to retailers located in New York for sale to consumers. Thus, Electrolux shipped 

over 40,000 microwaves that use the stainless steel handle bearing part number 5304481502 to 

retailers located in New York for sale to consumers.1 

16. Based on these and other allegations, the aggregate number of class members in 

Plaintiff’s proposed class is at least 100 for the purposes of satisfying 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5). 
                                                            
1 The United States District Court for the Eastern District of California recently concluded that 
“[a]s Electrolux does not sell its microwaves directly to consumers, it is reasonable for Electrolux to 
use sales of microwaves with stainless steel handles to its California retailers as a proxy to estimate 
how many of such microwaves were purchased by persons in California.”  Mendoza et al. v. 
Electrolux Home Products, Inc., 1:17-cv-00839-LJO-SKO, Dkt. No. 47 at 5 (September 20, 2017).  
A copy of that decision is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  Electrolux respectfully suggests that the 
same rationale should apply in this instance with respect to New York consumers. 
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C. The Amount In Controversy Requirement under CAFA Is Satisfied. 

17. Plaintiff alleges that over-the-range microwave ovens manufactured by Electrolux 

are defective because they are manufactured with stainless steel handles that allegedly heat to 

excessive temperatures when the cooking surface below is in operation.  (Ex. A ¶ 2). 

18. Plaintiff contends that the alleged defect renders a microwave “unfit for its 

ordinary purpose.”  (Id. ¶ 33). 

19. Based on these allegations, Plaintiff alleges claims against Electrolux for violation 

of New York General Business Law §§ 349 and 350, negligence, strict liability-design defect and 

failure to warn, negligent failure to warn, and unjust enrichment.  (Ex. A at 14-23).   

20. Based on these allegations, Plaintiff also alleges claims against Lowe’s for strict 

liability-design defect and failure to warn, violation of the Magnuson-Moss Consumer Products 

Warranties Act (15 U.S.C. § 2301, et seq.), breach of the implied warranty of merchantability, 

and unjust enrichment.  (Ex. A at 16-23). 

21. Plaintiff seeks, on his own behalf and on behalf of the putative class, the 

following damages: (1) the greater of actual damages or statutory damages of $50 per transaction 

pursuant to GBL § 349(h); (2) costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to GBL § 349; (3) “replacement 

of the defective handle with a non-defective handle of at least the quality and grade marketed and 

promised, as well as shipment and installation of the replacement handle,” (4) “restitution and/or 

the institution of a constructive trust disgorging all profits, benefits and other compensation 

obtained by Defendants, in addition to attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest thereon,” (5) 

compensatory damages and/or statutory damages; and (6) pre- and post-judgment interest.  (Ex. 

A ¶¶ 61, 120, and 124; Ex. A at 23 ¶¶ B-E). 

22. Plaintiff alleges that “the retail cost of the handle is approximately $140.46,” and 

that he purchased his microwave for $224.10.  (Ex. A ¶¶ 23, 34). 
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23. Using only the cost of a replacement handle as the measure of damages ($140.46), 

the putative class would need to consist of 35,598 individuals for the amount in controversy to 

exceed $5,000,000.2 

24. More than 35,598 microwaves that use a stainless steel handle bearing part 

number 5304481502 were shipped to New York retailers for sale to consumers during the 

putative class period. 

25. If Electrolux was ordered to replace the handles on these microwaves, a qualified 

service technician would need to disassemble the door of each microwave, install the new 

handle, reassemble and reinstall the microwave door and then inspect the unit to ensure 

functionality.  The average labor cost to Electrolux for such repairs is $91.  

26. Using the cost of the replacement handle plus the labor cost to replace the handle 

as the measure of damages ($140.46 plus $91 equals $231.46), the putative class would need to 

consist of 21,603 individuals for the amount in controversy to exceed $5,000,000.3 

27. More than 21,603 microwaves that use a stainless steel handle bearing part 

number 5304481502 were shipped to New York retailers for sale to consumers during the 

putative class period. 

28. Moreover, pursuant to GBL § 350-e(3), a person who alleges that he has been 

injured by a violation of GBL § 350, as Plaintiff does here, may bring “an action to recover his 

or her actual damages or five hundred dollars, whichever is greater.”  N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 350-

e (McKinney). 4 

                                                            
2 $5,000,000 divided by $140.46 equals 35,597.32. 
3 $5,000,000 divided by $231.46 equals 21,602.004. 
4 $5,000,000 divided by $500 equals 10,000. 
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29. Using the $500 statutory damages available under GBL § 350-e(3), the putative 

class would need to consist of 10,000 individuals for the amount in controversy to exceed 

$5,000,000.  See Andersen v. Walmart Stores, Inc., No. 16-CV-6488 CJS, 2017 WL 661188, at 

*6 (W.D.N.Y. Feb. 17, 2017) (using the $500 statutory damages available pursuant to GBL § 

350-e(3) to calculate that the putative class would need to consist of 10,000 members to satisfy 

CAFA’s amount in controversy requirement).  

30. More than 10,000 microwaves that use a stainless steel handle bearing part 

number 5304481502 were shipped to New York retailers for sale to consumers during the 

putative class period. 

31. Thus, for the reasons set forth above, the amount in controversy exceeds 

$5,000,000, even if attorneys’ fees are excluded from the calculation. 

32. Because there is minimal diversity between the parties and because the 

$5,000,000 amount in controversy requirement is satisfied, this case is properly removed 

pursuant to CAFA, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) and 1453. 

33. A true and correct copy of this Notice of Removal will be filed with the clerk of 

the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Onondaga, and served upon counsel for 

Plaintiff. 

34. In filing this Notice of Removal, Defendants do not waive, and specifically 

reserve, all defenses, exceptions, rights, and motions.  No statement herein or omission herefrom 

shall be deemed to constitute an admission by Defendants of any of the allegations of or damages 

sought in the Complaint.  
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WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully give notice of the removal of the state action 

referenced herein from the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Onondaga, to the 

United States District Court for the Northern District of New York.   

 
Dated: Newark, New Jersey 
 December 30, 2017 
      K&L GATES LLP 

Attorneys for Defendants Electrolux Home 
Products, Inc., and Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC 

 
 
     By: s/Loly G. Tor                      
      Loly G. Tor 
      One Newark Center, Tenth Floor 
      Newark, New Jersey 07102 
      T: (973) 848-4000 
      F: (973) 848-4001 
      loly.tor@klgates.com 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK  
COUNTY OF ONONDAGA 
-------------------------------------------------------------------X 
DEAN MAURO,      :          Index No.  
            : 

Individually, and on behalf of       : 
all others similarly situated,      :  CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

          : 
Plaintiff,      :  

      : 
 v.      :         
          :  
ELECTROLUX HOME PRODUCTS, INC.,      :  
LOWE’S HOME CENTERS, LLC,      : 
      :  
 Defendants.      : 
-------------------------------------------------------------------X 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a Complaint brought by Plaintiff Dean Mauro, and those New York 

consumers who are similarly situated, against Defendant Electrolux Home Products, Inc. 

(“Electrolux”) and Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC (“Lowe’s”) (collectively “Defendants”) to 

redress a defective condition present in Electrolux Over-The-Range Microwave Ovens with 

stainless steel handles bearing part number 5304481502 (hereinafter “Microwave(s)” with 

“STAINLESS STEEL HANDLE(S)”) that were warranted, advertised, distributed, and sold by 

Defendants throughout the State of New York.   

2. The Microwaves are designed for installation on a vertical wall directly above the 

cooking surface of the range,1 but when the cooking surface below is in operation the 

Microwave’s STAINLESS STEEL HANDLE heats to excessive temperatures rendering the 

handle unfit for use with a bare hand and exposing anyone who touches it to a substantial risk of 

permanent and/or serious injury (“Handle Defect”).   

3. A photograph of Plaintiff’s Microwave is depicted below: 
                                                           
1 See Installation Instructions, attached hereto as Exhibit A at Figure 1. 
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FIGURE 1 
  PLAINTIFF MAURO’S INSTALLED MICROWAVE WITH HANDLE DEFECT 

 
4. The American Society of Testing Materials (“ASTM”) publishes the Standard 

Guide for Heated System Surface Conditions that Produce Contact Burn Injuries, known as 

ASTM Standard C1055-03 (Reapproved 2014) (hereinafter “Standard” or “ASTM C1055-03”).2  

This Standard defines the human burn hazard for skin contact “to standardize the determination 

of acceptable surface operating conditions for heated systems.”  Ex. B, § 5.2.   

5. The Standard warns against skin contact with any metal that exceeds 44°C or 

111°F, and acknowledges the risk rises exponentially with each degree increase over 44°C.  Ex. 

B, §§ 6.4.2, X1.2.3.3.  This is because a temperature of 111°F represents a standard pain 

                                                           
2 See ASTM C1055-03 (Reapproved 2014), attached hereto as Ex. B. 
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threshold with maximum bearable pain beginning at 133°F, and the beginning of numbness and 

possible irreversible injury is at 140°F. Ex. B, Figure X1.2.   

6. The Standard is clear, however, that “[i]f the surface temperature exceeds 70°C 

[158°F] and the surface is metallic, it may present a hazard regardless of the contact duration. 

Attempts should be made to lower the surface temperature below 70°C.” Ex. B, § 6.4.2.  

7. This Handle Defect is unreasonably dangerous and renders the Microwaves’ 

handles unfit to use when opening the Microwave door – its intended and ordinary purpose.  As a 

result of the hollow handle construction comprised of thin walls of stainless steel, the 

STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES with the Handle Defect heat to temperatures in excess of those 

permitted under ASTM Standard C1055-03 (Reapproved 2014). 

8. As a result of this Handle Defect and Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff brings claims 

for:  (i) New York General Business Law §§349, 350; (ii) negligence; (iii) strict liability-design 

defect and failure to warn; (iv) negligent failure to warn; (v) violations of the Magnuson-Moss 

Consumer Products Warranties Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301, et seq. (“MMWA”); (vi) breach of 

implied warranty of merchantability; and (vii) unjust enrichment.  Plaintiff brings suit on behalf 

of all other similarly situated persons, as set forth below, who have purchased the Microwave. 

II. PARTIES 

PLAINTIFF DEAN MAURO 

9. Plaintiff Mauro is an adult individual consumer who is a citizen and resident of 

Syracuse, New York.   

10. Plaintiff Mauro is the owner of a Frigidaire Gallery Over-The-Range Microwave 

Oven, Model No. FGMV175QFA, which contains the Handle Defect.   

11. Plaintiff Mauro purchased his Microwave from Lowe’s in Cicero, New York in 

December 2014. 
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12. Plaintiff Mauro’s Microwave was properly installed pursuant to Defendant’s 

installation instructions. 

13. Plaintiff Mauro’s Microwave handle reaches excessive surface temperature when 

the range below is in operation rendering the handle unreasonably dangerous and unfit to use 

when opening the Microwave door – its intended and ordinary purpose.    

DEFENDANT ELECTROLUX HOME PRODUCTS, INC. 

14. Defendant Electrolux is, upon information and belief, a Delaware corporation that 

can be served with process at its principal place of business located at 10200 David Taylor Dr., 

Charlotte, NC 28262. 

15. Defendant distributes its products under a variety of brand names, including 

Electrolux, Electrolux ICON, Frigidaire Professional, Frigidaire Gallery, Frigidaire, Eureka, 

Kelvinator, Sanitaire, Tappan, and White-Westinghouse.  See 

http://www.electroluxappliances.com/About-Electrolux/About-US/ (last visited November 7, 

2017).   

16. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant, Electrolux was engaged in the 

business of distributing the Microwaves throughout the United States, including in the State of 

New York. 

DEFENDANT LOWE’S HOME CENTERS, LLC 

17. Defendant Lowe’s is a North Carolina corporation with its principal place of 

business located at 1605 Curtis Bridge Road, Wilkesboro, North Carolina.  Lowe’s is a wholly 

owned subsidiary of Lowe’s Companies, Inc.  Lowe’s Companies, Inc. purports to be the 

nation’s second largest home improvement store and conducts business throughout New York 

and the United States, including in the County of Onondaga.  Defendant Lowe’s operates home 

improvement stores and retails appliances, tools, paints, lumber, and nursery products.  
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III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

18. This Court has jurisdiction over Defendant pursuant to subsections 1 through 3 of 

CPLR § 302(a) because Defendants (1) transact business within New York or contract both 

within and without New York to supply goods or services within the state; (2) committed aspects 

of the tortious acts within New York as alleged herein; and (3) committed tortious acts without 

the state of New York as alleged herein, and regularly do sufficient business in New York, have 

sufficient minimum contacts with New York, and otherwise intentionally avail themselves of the 

markets in New York through the purchase of services and the promotion, marketing, sale and 

distribution of its products in New York to render the exercise of jurisdiction by the New York 

Courts permissible under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. 

19. Venue is proper in this Court because Plaintiff resides in Onondaga County.  

CPLR § 503. 

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. The Microwave is Defective 

20. For almost one-hundred years, Defendant Electrolux has designed, manufactured, 

assembled, sold, and otherwise placed into the stream of commerce a wide range of home 

appliances.  Defendant Electrolux sells its Microwaves to consumers throughout the United 

States through authorized retailers, including but not limited to, the Defendant Lowe’s.      

21. The Microwave is designed, manufactured, and intended to be used “over-the-

range.”  See e.g., Ex. D (Specifications Sheet).  The Microwave is to be installed directly over 

the cooking surface, as shown below: 
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     FIGURE 2 
            INSTALLATION SPECIFICATIONS 
 
22. The Microwaves have been designed, manufactured, and intended to be used with 

a unique “Handle Design” manufactured from stainless steel.  See id.  The Microwaves’ handles 

inflicted with the Handle Defect are readily identifiable by part number:  5304481502 

(“STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES”).   

23. At the time of filing of this Complaint, the retail cost of the handle is 

approximately $140.46.   

24. The intended use of the Microwave’s STAINLESS STEEL HANDLE is to access 

the appliance for use, and is the only way to open the Microwave door.  The STAINLESS 

STEEL HANDLE is designed for use with a bare hand, and a consumer’s reasonable expectation 

is that the handle to the Microwave can be touched without risk of burning or other serious 

injury. 

25. The Microwaves’ STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES with the Handle Defect fail to 

conform to the governing standards in the United States for preventing consumers’ exposure to 
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burn injuries. 

26. ASTM C1055-03 is a design guide for the determination of acceptable surface 

operating conditions to prevent contact with exposed heated surfaces.  See Ex. B, §1.1.  The 

Standard is designed to “establish the maximum operating surface temperature under the worst 

case conditions.” Ex. B, §6.3. 

27. The Standard describes thermal sensations and tissue effects of skin contact with 

metallic surfaces.  A temperature of 111°F represents a pain threshold, painful to the touch, and 

maximum bearable pain begins at 133°F.  This pain threshold is adopted by Underwriters’ 

Laboratories, Inc. (“UL”) 923 stating the temperature of a metal handle or knob cannot exceed 

131°F.  See UL 923, Section 42.3, Table 42.2.  While Defendant Electrolux represents 

compliance with UL standards, no testing was ever done to identify, address, or prevent the 

Handle Defect. 

28.   But the Standard is likewise clear that “[i]f the surface temperature exceeds 70°C 

[158°F] and the surface is metallic, it may present a hazard regardless of the contact duration. 

Attempts should be made to lower the surface temperature below 70°C.” Ex. B, § 6.4.2.    

29. This Standard establishes a range of injury to skin that contacts metallic surfaces 

at identified temperatures: 
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FIGURE 3 
ASTM C1055-03 (2014), FIG. X1.2 THERMAL SENSATIONS AND ASSOCIATED EFFECTS THROUGHOUT 

RANGE OF TEMPERATURES COMPATIBLE WITH TISSUE LIFE 
 

30. In addition, according to the New York City Administrative Code, “[a]ll 

accessible piping in habitable and occupiable rooms carrying steam, water, or other fluids at 

temperatures exceeding one hundred sixty-five degrees Fahrenheit shall be insulated to prevent 

the temperature at the outer surface of the insulation from exceeding sixty degrees Fahrenheit 

above the ambient temperature.”  N.Y. Code § 27-809 (emphasis added).   

31. New York City comprises over two-fifths of New York State’s entire population, 

and therefore, New York City residents constitute a substantial portion of the New York state 

class.  See https://www1.nyc.gov/site/planning/data-maps/nyc-population/population-facts.page 

(last visited on November 7, 2017).   

32. When the cooking range is in use below the Microwave, however, these 

STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES reach temperatures that exceed all applicable standards 

because of the Handle Defect.  This occurs because the handles are hollow and manufactured 

from walls of stainless steel that are too thin and lacking in any insulating feature to protect 

against the heat emanating from the range below. 

33. Defendants have not provided any warnings, instructions, or visible indicators that 
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the handle becomes hot with the operation of the cooking surface below making it unfit for its 

ordinary purpose, and may cause serious burns or other injuries to a user thereby presenting a 

defective condition that is unreasonable to the user.   

B. The Defective Microwave Caused Plaintiff’s Injury 

34. Plaintiff Mauro’s Microwave was purchased from Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC in 

Cicero, New York on December 3, 2014 for $224.10, excluding tax.   

35. Thereafter, Plaintiff Mauro installed his Microwave over his cooking range, as 

depicted in the photograph above, in accordance with the Installation Instructions for the 

Microwave, which were provided by Defendant Electrolux.  See Ex. A. (Installation 

Instructions).   

36. At all relevant times hereto, Plaintiff Mauro has had a conventional-size cooking 

range that is also sold by Electrolux under the same brand as his Microwave:  Frigidaire Gallery.   

37. While cooking on his stove, Plaintiff reached for the handle of his Microwave to 

open it. 

38. As a result of Plaintiff’s brief contact with the handle of his Microwave, he 

discovered the exceedingly high temperature of that handle.  

C. Defendant Electrolux’s Knowledge of the Handle Defect 
 

39. Based on the design or manufacture of the Microwave, the Handle Defect causes 

the handles of the Microwaves to reach temperatures that cause the handle to be unfit for its 

ordinary purpose, and may cause serious burns or other injuries to a user thereby presenting a 

defective condition that is unreasonable to the user.  

40. Defendant Electrolux’s choice of stainless steel for the handle, rather than an 

alternative metal such as aluminum, combined with its hollow construction with thin walls rather 
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than solid construction causes the exterior of the Microwave handle to reach temperatures that 

create a substantial risk of harm to consumers when the cooking range is in use below the 

Microwave. 

41. Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that Defendant Electrolux has 

had constructive and actual knowledge of the Handle Defect through numerous consumer 

complaints made directly to Defendant Electrolux or through online communications and 

complaints of consumers at large. 

42. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendant Electrolux acknowledged 

internally that the Handle Defect caused injuries and burns to consumers. 

43. Despite having repeated notice of the Handle Defect, its effects, and consumers’ 

reasonable expectation of using the handle to open the Microwave door when the cooking range 

is in use, Defendant Electrolux has engaged and continues to engage in the following wrongful 

course of conduct, where it: 

a. Designs, manufactures, markets, advertises, and sells the Microwave with a 

Handle Defect that causes burns and other injuries; 

b. Fails to disclose at the time of purchase that the Microwave has a Handle 

Defect that causes burns and other injuries; 

c. Continues to represent on Microwave packaging that the Microwave is of a 

quality and fitness that it is not; 

d. Continues to represent expressly or by necessary implication that the 

Microwave is dependable and fit to use in consumer’s households when it 

knows these statements are false because the Microwave contains a Handle 

Defect; 

e. Continues to manufacture, market, advertise, distribute, and sell the 

Microwave when it knows that the Microwave is defective and unsafe; 
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f. Fails to disclose the risk that to a substantial certainty, the Microwave will 

cause burns or other injuries when used as instructed by its Use & Care 

Guide; 

g. Fails to disclose to consumers the Handle Defect; and 

h. Fails to implement a recall or repair program to adequately announce to 

Plaintiff and Class Members the existence of the Handle Defect, and 

provide, without charge, a solution to remedy and correct the Handle 

Defect. 

44. Had Plaintiff known of the Handle Defect in the Microwave and the substantial 

risk of burns resulting from use of the Microwave, Plaintiff would not have installed his 

Microwave. 

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

45. This action is brought as, and may properly be maintained as, a class action under 

the provisions of Article 9 of the CPLR. 

46. The putative Class is defined as: 

All persons in the State of New York who purchased a Frigidaire 
Over-The-Range Microwave with a STAINLESS STEEL 
HANDLE since December 1, 2013.  Excluded from the Class are 
officers, representatives, or agents of Defendants, as well as the 
judge presiding over this case and his or her immediate family 
members.   

Numerosity 

47. Although the exact number of Class Members is uncertain, and can only be 

ascertained through appropriate discovery, including discovery of Defendant Lowe’s sales 

records, the Class is so numerous that the joinder of all members is impracticable.  The Class is 

comprised of an easily ascertainable, self-identifying set of persons who purchased the 

Microwaves with the Handle Defect.   
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Commonality 
 

48. There are numerous questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and the Class 

Members, including the following: 

a. Whether Defendants engaged in the conduct as alleged herein; 
 

b. Whether the Microwaves at issue in this lawsuit are defective; 
 

c. Whether Defendants knew or should have known of the inherent Handle 
Defect in the Microwave; 
 

d. Whether Defendants represented that its Microwaves were of a particular 
standard, quality, or grade when they were not and/or when Defendant 
knew or should have known that they were of another standard, quality, or 
grade; 
 

e. Whether Defendants fraudulently concealed from and/or failed to disclose 
to Plaintiff and the Class the inherent problems with its Microwave; 
 

f. Whether Defendants had a duty to Plaintiff and the Class to disclose the 
inherent Handle Defects in its Microwave; 
 

g. Whether the facts Defendants misrepresented, concealed, or failed to 
disclose were material; 
 

h. Whether as a result of Defendants’ concealment of and/or failure to 
disclose material facts, Plaintiff and the Class acted to their detriment by 
purchasing the Microwave; 
 

i. Whether Defendants should be declared financially responsible for 
notifying all Class Members of the problems with its Microwave and for 
the cost and expense of repairing and replacing all such Microwaves or 
replacing its defective STAINLESS STEEL HANDLE; 
 

j. Whether the Microwave is covered by implied warranty of 
merchantability; and  
 

k. Whether Plaintiff and the Class Members are entitled to damages, and the 
amount of such damages. 
 

49. The questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and the Class Members that 

predominate over any questions which may affect only individual members. 
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Typicality 
 

50. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class Members in that Plaintiff, 

like all Class Members, owns a defective Microwave, and has been damaged by Defendants’ 

uniform misconduct. 

51. Furthermore, the factual bases of Defendants’ misconduct are common to all 

Class Members and represent a common thread of misconduct resulting in injury to all members 

of the Class. 

Fair and Adequate Representation 
 

52. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  Plaintiff has 

retained counsel who are experienced in consumer class-action litigation.  Plaintiff has no 

interests which are adverse to, or in conflict with, other members of the Class. 

Superiority 

53. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of the controversy.  Class treatment of common questions of law and fact is superior 

to multiple individual actions or piecemeal litigation.  Moreover, absent a class action, most 

Class Members would likely find the cost of litigating their claims prohibitively high and would 

therefore have no effective remedy at law.  

54. The prosecution of separate actions by the individual Class Members would 

create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual Class Members, 

which would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants.  In contrast, a class 

action presents far fewer management difficulties, conserves judicial as well as the parties’ 

resources, and protects the rights of each Class Member. 
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VI. CAUSES OF ACTION 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
New York General Business Law §§ 349, 350 

[Against Defendant Electrolux] 
 

55. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

56. Plaintiff asserts this claim against Defendant Electrolux on behalf of himself and 

all members of the putative Class. 

57. At all times relevant, the New York General Business Law § 349 and § 350 

prohibit “deceptive acts and practices” and “false advertising,” and declare such acts or practices 

as unlawful. 

58. Defendant Electrolux violated these provisions by the use of deceptive, false, and 

misleading misrepresentations or omissions of material fact in connection with the marketing, 

promotion, and sale of the Microwaves with the Handle Defect.  Defendant Electrolux 

communicated the purported benefits of the Microwave while failing to disclose the serious 

potential of injury related to the use of the Microwave when the range below is in use, with the 

intent that consumers like Plaintiff and members of the Class rely upon the omissions and 

misrepresentations and use the Microwave in connection with the range underneath.  According 

to the Installation Instructions, Use & Care Guide, and Specification Sheet for the Microwave, 

Defendant Electrolux promoted the Microwave as an “Over The Range Microwave Oven.”  Ex. 

A at p. 1, Ex. C (Use & Care Guide) at p. 10, Ex. D (Specification Sheet) at p. 1.  These are all 

available to consumers online at https://www.frigidaire.com/Owner-Center/Product-Support--

Manuals/?productCode=FGMV175QF (last visited on Nov. 10, 2017).  However, as a result of 

the Handle Defect, the STAINLESS STEEL HANDLE of the Microwaves could not be safely 

contacted with a bare hand when the range below is in use.    
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59. Defendant Electrolux intended that consumers like Plaintiff and members of the 

Class rely on its deceptive, false and misleading misrepresentations or omissions of material fact 

in order to increase its sales and profit of the Microwaves. 

60. As a result of its deceptive marketing, Defendant Electrolux caused Plaintiff and 

the Class members suffered injury.   

61. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Electrolux’s violations of GBL § 

349 and § 350, Plaintiff and the Class Members have suffered damages, for which they are 

entitled to relief under § 349(h) that permits recovery of “actual damages or fifty dollars, 

whichever is greater [per transaction]”, and to costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees.     

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
Negligence 

[Against Defendant Electrolux] 
 

62. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

63. Plaintiff asserts this claim against Defendant Electrolux on behalf of himself and 

all members of the putative Class. 

64. Defendant Electrolux sold and/or distributed defective Microwaves to Plaintiff 

and the Class. 

65. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Electrolux had a duty to exercise 

reasonable care over Microwaves it sold, including a duty to ensure that their Microwaves did 

not pose a significantly increased or unreasonable risk of injury to consumers. 

66. Notwithstanding, Defendant Electrolux breached this duty by selling the 

Microwaves with the Handle Defect that present a risk of, and clearly identified, risk of serious 

personal injury to Plaintiff and Class Members expressly recognized by the objective 
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temperature standard of 158°F of ASTM C1055-03 for metallic surfaces that cause severe and 

irreversible injury.  The Handle Defect causes the Microwaves’ STAINLESS STEEL 

HANDLES to exceed this temperature under normal operating conditions. 

67.  Defendant Electrolux knew or should have known that the Microwaves had a 

propensity to cause serious injuries as set forth herein. 

68. Defendant Electrolux knew or should have known that consumers who purchased 

the Microwaves, including Plaintiff and Class Members, could foreseeably suffer injuries as to 

themselves as a result of its failure to exercise reasonable care as described above. 

69. Defendant Electrolux breached its duty of reasonable care to Plaintiff and Class 

Members so as to render the Microwaves defective and reasonably certain to be dangerous. 

70. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Electrolux’s acts and omissions, 

including its failure to exercise reasonable care in the design, manufacture, sale and distribution 

of the Microwaves, Plaintiff and the Class Members suffered loss or damage. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Strict Liability-Design Defect and Failure to Warn 

[Against All Defendants] 
 

71. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

72. Plaintiff asserts this claim on behalf of himself and all members of the putative 

Class. 

73. Defendants are engaged in the business of selling Microwaves, including those 

with the Handle Defect. 

74. The Microwaves were used for the purpose and in the manner normally intended. 

75. The Microwaves with the Handle Defect sold by Defendant Lowe’s reached 
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Plaintiff and members of the Class without any substantial change in their condition. 

76. An otherwise safe product can be deemed “defective” for strict liability purposes 

if, upon normal use, the product is dangerous beyond the reasonable consumer’s contemplations 

(“consumer expectations standard”), or if a reasonable person would conclude that the 

probability and seriousness of harm caused by the product outweigh the burden or costs of taking 

precautions (“risk-utility analysis”). 

77. Under both the consumer expectations standard and the risk-utility analysis, the 

Microwaves are defective because of the Handle Defect. 

78. The Microwaves with the Handle Defect failed to meet an ordinary consumer’s 

minimum safety expectations of an over-the-range microwave.   

79. The risks associated with use of the Microwaves’ STAINLESS STEEL 

HANDLES with the Handle Defect outweigh any aesthetic or functional benefits and any utility 

to the public or undisclosed precaution.   

80. The Microwave STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES expose Plaintiff and the Class 

Members to an unreasonably dangerous condition and temperatures known to cause permanent 

burn injuries. 

81. Because of the Handle Defect, the Microwaves’ STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES 

reach temperatures beyond the recommended maximum to expose a user to pain of 111°F 

(44°C), the maximum pain tolerance of 133°F (56°C), the point where injury occurs 140°F 

(60°C), and finally beyond the point of irreversible permanent skin damage 158°F (70°C).  The 

Microwave does not perform as safely as an ordinary consumer would have expected an over the 

range microwave to perform when used in a reasonably foreseeable way and/or the manner in 

which it was intended by Defendants.  Further, it was intended, and is reasonably foreseeable, that 
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a consumer would use the handle of the Microwave while the cooking range was in use below as 

it is the only means to open the door to the appliance. 

82. Consumers cannot adjust or prevent the handle of the Microwave from 

conducting heat from when the cooking range is in use below.   

83. There are no visible heat indicators or warnings regarding the external surface 

temperature of the Microwave handle. 

84. In other words, ordinary consumers would not have recognized the potential risks 

of serious burns or other injury based on the exterior appearance of the Microwave. 

85. The Microwaves, as designed, posed a substantial likelihood of harm. 

86. The Handle Defect renders the Microwave unreasonably dangerous and unable to 

perform as an ordinary consumer would expect. 

87. It was feasible to design the Microwaves in a safer manner.  The use of 

aluminum, thicker material, insulated core, or any combination of these alternatives would 

eliminate the Handle Defect. 

88. Defendants failed to warn Plaintiff and the Class of the risk for injury caused by 

using the Microwaves STAINLESS STEEL HANDLES with the Handle Defect.  Defendants 

also failed to ensure that these handles on the Microwave it sold were safe for their intended 

purpose and users. 

89. Defendant Electrolux failed to warn in the Microwave’s Use & Care Guide, and 

all other documents accompanying the Microwave, about the risk regarding the unreasonably 

high external surface temperature of the handle when the cooking range in is use below. 

90. As a direct and proximate result of the Handle Defect put into the stream of 

commerce by Defendants, and/or its failure to warn of the risks of use thereof, Plaintiff and 
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putative Class Members have been injured and have suffered damages. 

91. Thus, Defendants are strictly liable for all injuries suffered by Plaintiff and the 

Class Members as a result of the Handle Defect. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Negligent Failure to Warn 

[Against Defendant Electrolux] 
 

92. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

93. Plaintiff asserts this claim on behalf of himself and all members of the putative 

Class. 

94. Defendant Electrolux sold, and/or distributed defective Microwaves to Plaintiff 

and the Class, and prepared all warnings for the Microwaves. 

95. Defendant Electrolux failed to provide any warning of the danger or instruct 

Plaintiff and the Class on the safe use of the Microwave, rendering the Microwave unreasonably 

dangerous because of the Handle Defect. 

96. Defendant Electrolux knew or reasonably should have known that its Microwaves 

were defective and dangerous and/or were likely to be dangerous when used in a reasonably 

foreseeable manner. 

97. Defendant Electrolux knew or reasonably should have known that Plaintiff and 

the Class could not detect or realize the Handle Defect, and that it posed a danger to Plaintiff and 

other consumers. 

98. A reasonable manufacturer, distributor, assembler, or seller under the same or 

similar circumstances would have warned of the danger or instructed on the safe use of the over 

the range microwave, including but not limited to, providing detailed instructions for safe use of 
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the Microwaves together with warnings regarding the risk of harm from contact with the 

STAINLESS STEEL HANDLE of the Microwave when the cooking range is in use below. 

99. Defendant Electrolux had a duty to Plaintiff and the Class to use reasonable care 

to warn consumers about the risks and dangers regarding the use of the Microwave, or facts that 

made said Microwave likely to be dangerous, and of which Defendant Electrolux knew or 

reasonably should have known. 

100. Defendant Electrolux breached this duty. 

101. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Electrolux’s breach, Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class have been injured. 

102. Defendant Electrolux’s failure to warn or instruct Plaintiff and the Class was a 

substantial factor in causing their harm. 

103. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of Defendant Electrolux’s 

negligence, Plaintiff and putative Class Members have been damaged in the aggregate, in an 

amount to be determined at trial. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of Magnuson-Moss Consumer Products Warranties Act,  

15 U.S.C. § 2301, et seq. (“MMWA”) 
[Against Defendant Lowe’s] 

104. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

105. The MMWA provides a private right of action by purchasers of consumer 

products against retailers who, inter alia, fail to comply with the terms of an implied or written 

warranty.  15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(1).  As alleged above, Defendant Lowe’s has failed to comply 

with its implied warranty of merchantability with regard to its Microwave. 

106. Microwaves are consumer products, as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 
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2301(a). 

107. Defendant Lowe’s is a warrantor, as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(5). 

108. Plaintiff and each member of the Class are consumers, as that term is defined in 

15 U.S.C. § 2301(3). 

109. The MMWA provides a cause of action for breach of warranty or other violations 

of the Act.  15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(1).  Defendant Lowe’s has breached its implied warranty of 

merchantability, as alleged herein, which it cannot disclaim under the MMWA, 15 U.S.C. § 

2308(a)(1), by failing to provide merchantable goods.  Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result 

of Defendant Lowe’s breach of its implied warranty of merchantability as set forth herein.  15 

U.S.C. § 2310(d)(1)-(2). 

110. Defendant Lowe’s was provided notice of the breach of warranty claims raised by 

Plaintiff, and was afforded a reasonable opportunity to cure.  Defendant Lowe’s never cured.  

Until Plaintiff’s representative capacity is determined, notice and opportunity to cure through 

Plaintiff, and on behalf of the Class, can be provided under 15 U.S.C. § 2310(e). 

111. Defendant Lowe’s acts and omissions in violation of the MMWA are “[u]nfair 

methods of competition in or affecting commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or 

affecting commerce,” and they are unlawful.  15 U.S.C. § 2310(b); 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1).  

112. Plaintiff and the Class Members have suffered, and are entitled to recover, 

damages as a result of Defendant Lowe’s breach of implied warranty and violations of the 

MMWA. 

113. Plaintiff also seeks an award of costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, 

under the MMWA to prevailing consumers in connection with the commencement and 

prosecution of this action.  15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(2).  Plaintiff and the prospective Class intend to 
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seek such an award, including expert witness costs and other recoverable costs, as prevailing 

consumers at the conclusion of this lawsuit.  

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Breach of Implied Warranty of Merchantability 

[Against Defendant Lowe’s] 
 

114. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

115. Defendant Lowe’s is a merchant who sold Microwave to Plaintiff and members of 

the Class. 

116. Defendant Lowe’s, as the seller of the Microwave, impliedly warranted to 

Plaintiff and members of the Class that the Microwaves were free of defects, and was 

merchantable and fit for the ordinary purpose for which such goods are used. 

117. As alleged herein, Defendant Lowe’s breached the implied warranty of 

merchantability because the Microwaves uniformly possess the unsafe Handle Defect or defects.  

The Microwaves are therefore defective, unmerchantable, and unfit for the ordinary, intended 

purpose at the time of sale.  

118. After Plaintiff was made aware of the Handle Defect, they gave reasonable and 

adequate notice to Defendant Lowe’s that the Microwaves were defective, unmerchantable, and 

unfit for their intended use or purpose.  Defendant Lowe’s failed to cure.   

119. Plaintiff did not receive or otherwise have the opportunity to review, at or before 

the time of sale, the written warranty containing the purported exclusions and limitations of 

remedies.  Accordingly, any such exclusions and limitations of remedies are unconscionable and 

unenforceable, and Plaintiff is entitled to all remedies available under Article 2 of the New York 

Uniform Commercial Code.  Any purported warranty disclaimers, exclusions, and limitations 
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were unconscionable and unenforceable. 

120. As a direct and proximate result of the breach of implied warranty, Plaintiff and 

Class Members have been injured in an amount to be proven at trial, including replacement of 

the defective handle with a non-defective handle of at least the quality and grade marketed and 

promised, as well as shipment and installation of the replacement handle. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Unjust Enrichment 

[Against All Defendants] 
 

121. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

122. Defendants received monies for the purchases of Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ 

Microwaves, and Defendants were enriched at the expense of Plaintiff and Class Members. 

123. As a result of the Handle Defect, it is against equity and good conscience to 

permit Defendants to retain the full value of the Microwaves. 

124. As a result of Defendants’ unjust enrichment, Plaintiff and the Class Members are 

entitled to restitution and/or the institution of a constructive trust disgorging all profits, benefits, 

and other compensation obtained by Defendants, in addition to attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest 

thereon. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, 

requests a judgment against Defendants, as follows: 

A. For an order certifying the Class, appointing Plaintiff as representative of the 

Class, and designating the undersigned as Class Counsel; 

B. For compensatory and/or statutory damages sustained by Plaintiff and the Class;  

C. For payment of costs of suit herein incurred; 
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D. For both pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on any amounts awarded; 

E. For payment of reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert fees, and expenses, as may be 

allowable under applicable law; and 

F. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, demand a trial by jury as to all issues so 

triable. 

 

DATE:  November 20, 2017 BY:__/s/ Jason Zweig   
Jason Zweig 
HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP  
555 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 
New York, NY 10017 
Telephone: (212) 752-5455 
Facsimile: (917) 210-3980 
 Email: jasonz@hbsslaw.com  
 
Simon B. Paris 
Patrick Howard  
Charles J. Kocher  
SALTZ, MONGELUZZI, BARRETT  
& BENDESKY, P.C.  
1650 Market Street, 52nd Floor  
Philadelphia, PA 19103  
Telephone: (215) 496-8282 
Fax: (215) 496-0999 
E-mail:  sparis@smbb.com 
E-mail:  phoward@smbb.com 
E-mail:  ckocher@smbb.com 
 
Daniel E. Gustafson  
Jason S. Kilene 
GUSTAFSON GLUEK PLLC 
Canadian Pacific Plaza 
120 South Sixth Street, Suite 2600 
Minneapolis, MN  55402 
Telephone: (612) 333-8844  
Fax: (612) 339-6622 
E-mail:  dgustafson@gustafsongluek.com 
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E-mail:  jkilene@gustafsongluek.com 
 
 Anthony D. Shapiro  
Jeniphr Breckenridge  
HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP  
1918 Eighth Avenue, Suite 3300  
Seattle, WA 98101  
Telephone: (206) 623-7292  
Facsimile: (206) 623-0594  
Email: tony@hbsslaw.com  
jeniphr@hbsslaw.com  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and Proposed Class 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK  
COUNTY OF ONONDAGA 
-------------------------------------------------------------------X 
DEAN MAURO,      :          Index No.         
            : 

Individually, and on behalf of       : 
all others similarly situated,      :         SUMMONS 

          : 
Plaintiff,      :  

      : 
 v.      :         
          :  
ELECTROLUX HOME PRODUCTS, INC.,      :  
LOWE’S HOME CENTERS, LLC,      : 
      :  
 Defendants.      : 
-------------------------------------------------------------------X 
 

 

To the above-named Defendants: 
 

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to answer the complaint in this action and 
to serve a copy of your answer, or, if the complaint is not served with this summons, 
serve a notice of appearance, on the Plaintiff’s Attorney(s) within 20 days after the 
service of this summons, exclusive of the day of service (or within 30 days after the 
service is complete if this summons is not personally delivered to you within the State of 
New York); and in case of your failure to appear or answer, judgment will be taken 
against you by default for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
 

Plaintiff designates Onondaga County as the place of trial. The basis of venue is 
Defendants transact business within New York or contract both within and without New York to 
supply goods or services within the state. 
 
DATE:  November 20, 2017 BY:_/s/ Jason Zweig   

Jason Zweig 
HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP  
555 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 
New York, NY 10017 
Telephone: (212) 752-5455 
Facsimile: (917) 210-3980 
 Email: jasonz@hbsslaw.com  
 
Simon B. Paris 
Patrick Howard  
Charles J. Kocher  
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SALTZ, MONGELUZZI, BARRETT  
& BENDESKY, P.C.  
1650 Market Street, 52nd Floor  
Philadelphia, PA 19103  
Telephone: (215) 496-8282 
Fax: (215) 496-0999 
E-mail:  sparis@smbb.com 
E-mail:  phoward@smbb.com 
E-mail:  ckocher@smbb.com 
 
Daniel E. Gustafson  
Jason S. Kilene 
GUSTAFSON GLUEK PLLC 
Canadian Pacific Plaza 
120 South Sixth Street, Suite 2600 
Minneapolis, MN  55402 
Telephone: (612) 333-8844  
Fax: (612) 339-6622 
E-mail:  dgustafson@gustafsongluek.com 
E-mail:  jkilene@gustafsongluek.com 
 
 Anthony D. Shapiro  
Jeniphr Breckenridge  
HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO LLP  
1918 Eighth Avenue, Suite 3300  
Seattle, WA 98101  
Telephone: (206) 623-7292  
Facsimile: (206) 623-0594  
Email: tony@hbsslaw.com  
jeniphr@hbsslaw.com  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and Proposed Class 

 

TO:   Electrolux  
          10200 David Taylor Dr.  
          Charlotte, NC 28262 
   

            Lowe’s  
           1605 Curtis Bridge Road 
           Wilkesboro, NC 28697 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

ERIKA MENDOZA, JAMES HUNT, 

individually and on behalf of all others 

similarly situated, 

 

                                       Plaintiffs,  

 

                             v.  

 

ELECTROLUX HOME PRODUCTS, INC.,  

 

                                       Defendant. 

1:17-cv-00839-LJO-SKO 

 

TO BE FILED UNDER SEAL 

 

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND 

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF’S 

MOTION TO REMAND  

 

(Dkt. Nos. 13, 36, 33, 44) 

  

I. INTRODUCTION 

Before the Court is Plaintiffs’ Motion to Remand, filed on July 24, 2017. (Dkt. No. 13).  

Defendant Electrolux Home Products, Inc. (“Electrolux”) filed its Opposition on August 7, 2017 

(Dkt. No. 36) and Plaintiff filed a Reply on August 15, 2017. (Dkt. No. 33). After the Court’s 

preliminary review of the these submissions, it requested further development of the factual 

record in order to aid in its determination and authorized the Defendant to file a sur-reply 

addressing limited issued raised by Plaintiffs’ Reply. (Dkt. No. 39). The Court further authorized 

Plaintiffs to file a response by September 8, 2017. (Id.).  On August 25, 2017, Defendant filed a 

sur-reply. (Dkt. No. 44). Plaintiffs did not submit a response. The Court finds it appropriate to 

rule on the motion without oral argument. See Local Rule 230(g). Having considered the record 

in this case, the parties’ briefing, and the relevant law, the Court denies Plaintiffs’ Motion to 

Remand.   

II. BACKGROUND 

The basis of this putative class action is Plaintiffs’ assertion that Defendant’s stainless 

steel microwave handles are defective. On May 19, 2017, Plaintiffs Mendoza and Hunt filed a 

complaint in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Stanislaus alleging 

three causes of action on behalf of themselves and similarly situated individuals: (1) violation of 
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California’s Consumers Legal Remedies Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 1750 et seq.); (2) violation of 

California’s Unfair Competition Law (Cal.  Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.); and (3) violation 

of California’s Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 1791 et seq.). (See Dkt. 

No. 1-1, Complaint (“Compl.”), ¶¶ 62-98).  

On June 22, 2017, Defendant removed the case to this Court, based on its assertion that  

the requisite amount in controversy to create diversity jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action 

Fairness Act (“CAFA”)(28 U.S.C §1332(d)) exceeds $5 million exclusive of costs and interest.  

(Dkt. No. 1). By the motion filed on July 24, 2017 (Dkt. No. 13), Plaintiffs moved to remand the 

case, arguing that Defendant is unable to demonstrate that the amount in controversy exceeds the 

jurisdictional threshold required under §1332(d).
1
 Plaintiffs did not specify a damages amount in 

the Complaint. 

III. LEGAL STANDARD 

“[A]ny civil action brought in a State court of which the district courts of the United 

States have original jurisdiction, may be removed by the defendant or the defendants, to the 

district court of the United States for the district and division embracing the place where such 

action is pending.” 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). “To remove a case from state court to federal court, a 

defendant must file in the federal forum a notice of removal ‘containing a short and plain 

statement of the grounds for removal.’” Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co., LLC v. Owens, ––– 

U.S. ––––, 135 S. Ct. 547, 551 (2014) (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a)). However, “[i]f at any time 

before final judgment it appears that the district court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, the case 

shall be remanded.” 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c). 

CAFA vests federal courts with “jurisdiction over certain class actions, defined in § 

1332(d)(1), if the class has more than 100 members, the parties are minimally diverse, and the 

amount in controversy exceeds $5 million.” Dart, 135 S. Ct. at 552 (citing 28 U.S.C § 

1332(d)(2), (5)(B)). “[U]nder CAFA[,] the burden of establishing removal jurisdiction remains, 

as before, on the proponent of federal jurisdiction.” Abrego Abrego v. The Dow Chem. Co., 443 

                                                 

1
 Plaintiffs also summarily stated that Electrolux’s Notice of Removal is procedurally defective for failure to file the 

Notice in State Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1446(d). (Dkt. No. 13 at 10). However, Defendant provided the 

stamped copy of the Notice of Removal that was filed with the State Court. (Dkt. No. 31, Ex. A). 
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F.3d 676, 685 (9th Cir.2006) (per curiam). 

“If the plaintiff's complaint, filed in state court, demands monetary relief of a stated sum, 

that sum, if asserted in good faith, is ‘deemed to be the amount in controversy.’” Dart, 135 S. Ct. 

at 551 (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1446(c)(2)). “When plaintiff's complaint does not state the amount in 

controversy, the defendant's notice of removal may do so.” Id. (citing 28 U.S.C. § 

1446(c)(2)(A)); see also Abrego, 443 F.3d at 683. 

Under CAFA, there is no presumption against removal. Dart, 135 S. Ct. at 554. “Where 

facts are in dispute, the statute requires district courts to make factual findings before granting a 

motion to remand a matter to state court.” Mondragon v. Capital One Auto Fin., 736 F.3d 880, 

883 (9th Cir.2013). On a plaintiff’s motion to remand, it is a defendant’s burden to establish 

jurisdiction by a preponderance of the evidence. Dart, 135 S. Ct. at 553–54; see also Rodriguez 

v. AT & T Mobility Serv’s. LLC, 728 F.3d 975, 981 (9th Cir.2013). 

In proving the amount in controversy, “[t]he parties may submit evidence outside the 

complaint, including affidavits or declarations, or other summary-judgment-type evidence 

relevant to the amount in controversy at the time of removal.” Ibarra v. Manheim Investments, 

Inc., 775 F.3d 1193, 1197 (9th Cir. 2015) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The 

parties submit summary-judgment style evidence and using the preponderance of evidence 

standard “the court decides...whether the amount-in-controversy requirement has been satisfied.” 

Dart, 135 S. Ct. at 554; see also Ibarra, 775 F.3d at 1197. Thus, “‘removal ... is proper on the 

basis of [an] amount in controversy asserted’ by the defendant ‘if the district court finds, by the 

preponderance of the evidence, that the amount in controversy exceeds’ the jurisdictional 

threshold.” Dart, 135 S. Ct. at 553-54 (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1446(c)(2)(B)). When a party relies 

on a chain of reasoning that includes assumptions to establish the amount in controversy, those 

assumptions must be reasonable. Ibarra, 775 F.3d at 1199 (assumptions “cannot be pulled from 

thin air but need some reasonable ground underlying them”). A defendant cannot establish 

removal jurisdiction by mere speculation, or prove the requirement on the basis of unreasonable 

assumptions. Id. at 1197. 

IV. DISCUSSION 
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As discussed above, “CAFA gives federal courts jurisdiction over certain class actions ... 

if the class has more than 100 members, the parties are minimally diverse, and the amount in 

controversy exceeds $5 million.” Dart, 135 S. Ct. at 552. The parties do not dispute that the first 

two requirements of CAFA are satisfied. (See Dkt. No. 13 at 5; Dkt. No. 33 at 1; Dkt. No. 44 at 

1). Thus, the single question put to the Court in Plaintiffs’ Motion to Remand is whether 

Defendant has carried its burden to show the amount-in-controversy exceeds $5 million. (Id.).  

 Citing certain statements Electrolux made in a case in the Middle District of 

Pennsylvania, Plaintiffs’ Motion to Remand argues that Defendant is unable to establish the 

amount in controversy exceeds $5 million. (Dkt. No. 13 at 5-8). In those prior statements 

Electrolux conceded it does not sell directly to consumers and thus was unable to tell the court in 

that case how many of a particular microwave ended up in Pennsylvania or any other 

jurisdiction. (Dkt. No. 13 at 3-4). Plaintiffs also take issue with the Notice of Removal’s use of 

data regarding shipments of microwaves to retailers in California instead of data involving actual 

sales to class members. (Dkt. No. 13 at 8).    

When a defendant’s assertion of the amount in controversy is challenged, both sides 

submit proof and the court decides, by a preponderance of the evidence, whether the amount-in-

controversy requirement has been satisfied. 28 U.S.C.A. § 1446(c)(2)(B); Dart, 135 S. Ct. at 

554. Defendant’s burden in this case is to “provide evidence establishing that it is ‘more likely 

than not’ that the amount in controversy exceeds [the jurisdictional threshold].” Sanchez v. 

Monumental Life Ins. Co., 102 F.3d 398, 404 (9th Cir. 1996) (citation omitted). Under this 

framework, Defendant does not need to know the exact number of microwaves that were sold to 

California consumers in order to meet its burden.  

The proposed class in this matter is defined as: “All persons in California who purchased 

a Microwave with a stainless steel handle since at least February 18, 2011 and continuing to the 

present.” (Compl. ¶59). Plaintiffs allege that the class has “suffered actual damages in the 

amounts paid for the Microwaves with the Handle Defect, monies paid to replace them, and/or 

monies paid to remediate Handle Defect.” (Compl. ¶74). “CAFA’s requirements are to be tested 

by consideration of real evidence and the reality of what is at stake in the litigation, using 
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reasonable assumptions underlying the defendant's theory of damages exposure.” Ibarra, 775 

F.3d at 1198 (9th Cir. 2015). Accordingly, a reasonable and conservative estimate of the amount 

in controversy is the number of Electrolux microwaves with stainless steel handles sold to 

consumers in California multiplied by the replacement cost of each handle. 

As Electrolux does not sell its microwaves directly to consumers, it is reasonable for 

Electrolux to use sales of microwaves with stainless steel handles to its California retailers as a 

proxy to estimate how many of such microwaves were purchased by persons in California. “As 

with other important areas of our law, evidence may be direct or circumstantial. In either event, a 

damages assessment may require a chain of reasoning that includes assumptions.” Ibarra, 775 

F.3d at 1199. It is reasonable to assume that it is more likely than not that microwaves sold to 

Electrolux’s California retailers were purchased by persons in California. See, e.g., Sanchez v. 

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., No. CIVS06CV2573DFLKJM, 2007 WL 1345706, at *2 (E.D. Cal. May 

8, 2007) (“It is reasonable to assume that defendants’ California [retailers] sold their 

inventory…to California consumers.”). 

Defendant presented the declaration of Christopher Smith, an Electrolux employee, 

which included data Electrolux maintains concerning sales of microwaves to retailers in 

California. (Dkt. No. 35 at ¶¶3-6). In addition, the Smith Declaration presented data from Lowe’s 

Companies, Inc. (“Lowe’s), one of Electrolux’s retailers, concerning direct sales of three 

microwave models with stainless steel handles to customers with a California address. (Dkt. No. 

35 at ¶7).  

Plaintiffs’ Reply challenges the reliability of the evidence presented in the Smith 

Declaration. (Dkt. No. 33 at 4-9). Specifically, Plaintiffs argue that: (1) certain microwave 

models included in Defendant’s estimation of the amount in controversy do not contain stainless 

steel handles and are thus not part of the putative class (id. at 4-5); (2) Defendant’s measure of 

damages fails to provide evidence of a unit price of the microwaves (id. at 6-7); and (3) the 

Lowe’s sales data constitutes inadmissible hearsay and cannot be considered in support of 
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removal. (Id. at 7-9).
2
 Based on the issues raised in the Reply, the Court requested supplemental 

evidence and briefing concerning assumptions underlying Defendant’s estimate of the amount in 

controversy as well as Plaintiffs’ hearsay objection. (Dkt. No. 39).
3
  

In in his second Declaration, Electrolux employee Christopher Smith provides further 

evidence clarifying that the microwave models included in the data possess stainless steel 

handles. (Dkt. No. 46). The updated data set specifically excludes certain models where business 

records show that the handles were manufactured using aluminum and also excludes sales to 

regional distribution centers. (Dkt. No. 46 at ¶¶6-9). The Court is satisfied that the data presented 

in the second Smith Declaration includes only microwaves with stainless steel handles sold to 

California retailers. The second Smith Declaration also includes the manufacturers’ suggested 

retail price (“MSRP”) of each handle for each respective model. (Id. at ¶9). Lastly, Electrolux 

provides an additional declaration from a Lowe’s employee to address Plaintiffs’ hearsay 

objection to the Lowe’s sales data. (Dkt. No. 45).
4
   

The evidence submitted by Defendant shows that Defendant sold over 200,000 

microwaves with stainless steel handles to retailers in California and the replacement cost for the 

handles of such microwaves ranged from $90.07 to $141.21, amounting to over $24 million in 

potential damages, even excluding additional damages such as installation costs. (Dkt. No. 46 at 

¶¶9-10).
5
 Such a calculation appears to be a reasonable approximation of the amount in 

controversy in this matter. Even if not all Electrolux’s sales to California retailers resulted in 

                                                 

2
 The Court finds without merit Plaintiffs’ argument that judicial admissions in a Pennsylvania District Court case 

prove that Electrolux is unable to determine the amount in controversy in this case (See Dkt. No. 33 at 2-3). 

Although in the Pennsylvania case, Electrolux did state it was “not going to be able to tell this Court how many of a 

particular microwave ended up on Pennsylvania or any other jurisdiction,” this kind of statement is not normally 

binding in a subsequent lawsuit. See Nextdoor.Com, Inc. v. Abhyanker, No. C-12-5667 EMC, 2013 WL 3802526, at 

*8 (N.D. Cal. July 19, 2013) (collecting cases in support of proposition that a statement made in one court 

proceeding is generally not considered binding in separate litigation); see also United States v. Williams, No. CRIM. 

06-00079 JMS, 2014 WL 2436199, at *6 (D. Haw. May 30, 2014) (same).  
3
 “A court may also consider supplemental evidence later proffered by the removing defendant, which was not 

originally included in the removal notice.” Korn v. Polo Ralph Lauren Corp., 536 F. Supp. 2d 1199, 1205 (E.D. Cal. 

2008) (citing Cohn v. Petsmart, Inc., 281 F.3d 837, 840 n. 1 (9th Cir. 2002)). 
4
 Although Plaintiffs were afforded an opportunity to respond to Defendant’s additional submissions, Plaintiffs did 

not do so. Therefore, the Court assumes the additional declaration from a Lowe’s employee obviates the need to 

address Plaintiffs’ hearsay objection to Lowe’s sales data being presented by Smith.    
5
 Plaintiffs allege in the Complaint that replacement cost of Plaintiff Mendoza’s handle is $124.19 and Plaintiff 

Hunt’s handle is $140.63. (Compl. ¶¶29-30).  
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sales to California consumers, a large portion likely did. In addition, the Lowe’s Declaration 

shows that direct consumer sales of three models of Electrolux’s stainless steel handle 

microwaves exceed $6 million at Lowe’s alone. (See Dkt. No. 45). In sum, Electrolux’s retailer 

sales data in conjunction with actual sales data from just one of Electrolux’s retailers shows that 

it is more likely than not that the amount in controversy exceeds $5 million in this case.
6
 

Therefore, the court concludes that Defendant has established by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the amount in controversy exceeds $5 million. 

V. CONCLUSION AND ORDER 

For the reasons stated above, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ Motion to 

Remand (Dkt. No. 13) is denied. Correspondingly, Plaintiffs’ request for attorneys’ fees pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §1447(c) is also denied.  

In an abundance of caution, the Court has filed this version of its Memorandum Decision 

and Order under seal, as the Court has relied upon sealed documents in its analysis. The Court 

intends to release a public version of its decision. Accordingly, the parties are directed to meet 

and confer and, on or before September 28, 2017, communicate to the court via email (to 

ljoorders@caed.uscourts.gov) whether any party believes any aspect of the decision should be 

redacted prior to its unsealing. The parties should specify the page and line numbers they 

propose for redaction and provide a justification for each redaction request.  

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

 Dated:     September 20, 2017                /s/ Lawrence J. O’Neill   _____   
  UNITED STATES CHIEF DISTRICT JUDGE 

 

                                                 

6
 Plaintiffs also request attorneys’ fees (Compl. ¶78). Therefore, the amount in controversy may include additional 

sums since an amount in controversy estimation may include attorneys’ fees. See Allchin v. Volume Servs., Inc., No. 

215CV00886TLNEFB, 2016 WL 704616, at *5 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 23, 2016) (citing Guglielmino v. McKee Foods 

Corp., 506 F.3d 696, 700 (9th Cir. 2007).  
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